1956

Rebecca McKell v. Spanish Fork City et al : Brief of Plaintiff and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This action was commenced by A. T. McKell, now deceased, against Spanish Fork City, Its Mayor, City Councilmen, and Lindsey B. Snell, Its Water Superintendent, Utah County, and Its County Commissioners, and some of its employees, and also some of the employees of the State Road Commission of the State of Utah.

After the action was commenced and before the same came on for trial, Rebecca McKell, the wife of A. T. McKell, was substituted as plaintiff in lieu of her deceased husband, A. T. McKell. The basis for making the substitution was that Rebecca McKell was a joint

tenant with her husband, A. T. McKell, prior to his death, and was such joint tenant at the time complained of in the Complaint. (R. 56-57). The action is for damages done to plaintiff's lands, the improvements and personal property thereon by reason of the defendants having constructed a dyke along a road, the title to which was in Utah County, Utah. Such road extends east for about one-third of a mile from the northeast corner of plaintiff's land. As a result of the construction of the dyke along the road, large quantities of water which had overflowed the banks of Spanish Fork River, were concentrated along the southern side of the dyke so constructed and forced over plaintiff's lands. The water so forced over plaintiff's land cut large gulleys through the same and carried away improvements, together with some farming equipment located thereon. It is so alleged in the complaint (R. 20) and the amendment thereto (R. 50 and 54).

Numerous motions were filed by the defendants whereby they sought the dismissal of the action on various grounds. We shall not undertake a discussion of such motion because before the cause came on for trial, such motions were all disposed of and the case was tried on the issues raised by plaintiff's Amended Complaint (R. 20) and the amendment thereto, and the answers of the defendant Spanish Fork City and Its officers. Before the case came on for trial the action was dismissed as to all of the defendants except Spanish Fork City and its officers. The dismissal was had pursuant to a motion of plaintiff, A. T. McKell. (R. 63). It

will be seen from the motion that the same was made and granted pursuant to a stipulation and the payment of the sum of \$2000.00 by Utah County and \$2000.00 with an appropriation made by the Legislature of the State of Utah. It will be noted that the motion and the order granting the same were with prejudice as to the parties against whom the same was dismissed, but without prejudice as to those against whom it was not dismissed; that is, without prejudice as to Spanish Fork City, its Mayor, City Councilmen and Superintendent of its Water Works. (R. 63 to 65). In its original answer Spanish Fork City and its officers alleged that they did not participate in the construction of the dyke except to permit some of the trucks belonging to the City to haul some of the gravel (under the direction of Utah County) onto the road extending east from the northeast corner of plaintiff's land. The City and its officers also alleged that plaintiff consented to the acts complained of and that the damage done was caused by an act of God, and by reason of the construction of a new channel resulting in draining off the water that had escaped from Spanish Fork River. (R. 41 to 44 and 49 to 52, both inclusive).

After the plaintiff had rested, the defendants over the objection of plaintiff, moved for leave to amend its pleading "to strike from the answer to the Amended Answer — it is paragraph — I don't know how they number it, but it says paragraph three on the third page. It starts there, "That at the time and times herein mentioned, the Spanish Fork River after it went under

the bridge or the State Highway 91, and so forth. The evidence certainly shows otherwise." The defendants further asked leave to add to their pleading as an affirmative defense, to put in here the words "That at the time the elevation of the road to the Northeast of plaintiff's property was raised a great flood emergency existed resulting from the flood from Spanish Fork River, and in order to protect themselves from a common enemy, the City of Spanish Fork furnished trucks to Utah County in an effort to raise the elevation of the county road" and allege as a further affirmative matter that they did what they had a right to do and that they had a right to do so." (Tr. 202-203) The motions were granted. (Tr. 203-204) and later on January 26, 1956 an amendment was filed. (R. 140-141)

A trial was had with a jury on the issues raised by the amended complaint with the amendment thereto and the answer of the defendant, Spanish Fork City and its officers. The Jury on November 19, 1955 found for the plaintiff and assessed her damage against Spanish Fork City in the sum of \$2072.00 (R. 123). Thereafter the court set aside the verdict and granted judgment in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff, no cause of action. (R. 135-136)

The plaintiff by this appeal seeks a reversal of the judgment of the court below in vacating the verdict of the jury and granting defendant city judgment of no cause of action notwithstanding the verdict, and to have

re-instated the verdict and the judgment pursuant thereto.

While there is some conflict in the evidence as to the amount of damage sustained by the plaintiff on account of the forcing of the water complained of across plaintiff's land and some other minor matters, there is no substantial conflict in the evidence as to the facts which form the basis of plaintiff's complaint.

These facts are established without any conflict in the evidence :

During the winter of 1951 and 1952, there was more than the usual amount of snow fall on the water shed which drains into Spanish Fork River. In the late winter of 1952 it became apparent that there was grave danger of high water as soon as there was warm weather. It was anticipated that there would be flood waters about six weeks before the high waters actually come down. (Tr. 121-122). On April 2, 1952, the following appears in the minutes of the meeting of the City Council on that day:

“Mr. Parley Neeley, Ray Bradford, Wm. R. Jex, Orson Brown, Richard Taylor, S. A. Bradford, Dean Ludlow, Andrew Nelson and Garland Swenson met with the council to discuss the flood problem of our community. Mr. Wm. R. Jex was spokesman and Parley Neeley explained very thoroughly the problem we are faced with by means of a map, picturing the river district. Mayor reports that county would help if property holders would sign a waiver so that they can go in and work on any and all property.”

“Councilman Grotegut moved that the following be selected as flood control committee: Mr. L. B. Snell, Councilman Beck representing City, Wm. R. Jex, Garland Swenson, Bishop Harold Swenson, Ray Bradford and Dean Ludlow. They are to go ahead and meet with county and work out plans to do what is necessary for the flood control agreeable to all property owners concerned. They are to select their own chairman. Seconded by Councilman Isaac. Vote unanimous.” (Trs. 92-93)

On April 11, 1952, the following appears in the Minutes of the City Council of Spanish Fork City:

“Councilman Anderson moved that we go along with County and State in \$2000.00 each on dyke road and do all we can to cooperate with County and State in construction of road dyke and to authorize Mayor and Recorder to sign county agreement. Seconded by councilman Isaac. Vote Unanimous.” (Tr. 93)

An agreement was signed along in June and July 1952, see defendants' Exhibit 1.

By an instrument dated April 2, 1952, some of the property owners along Spanish Fork River signed what is designated as a Release. The original plaintiff in this action, Arthur T. McKell, was among the signers. The instrument is marked Exhibit D. 39. Such instrument in part provides:

“That we, property owners, along Spanish Fork River in Sections (naming them) and also property owners along the canals and tributaries, of the Spanish Fork River in the above sections,

do hereby release the State of Utah, Utah County, the United States of America through the U.S. Engineers and the City of Spanish Fork from all liability for damages to any real or personal property owned by the signers hereto in the above described sections along the Spanish Fork River, or along its canals and tributaries, by reason of work done or by or at the instance of any of the above described bodies politic, in dredging, cleaning, sand-bagging, doing revertment work and bank protection, removing debris, removing other obstructions, or doing any other work to alleviate flood conditions or present flooding from the Spanish Fork River or any of its canals or tributaries or drainage system fed by the Spanish Fork River."

In his deposition which was read to the jury (Tr. 97-99) because Mr. A. T. McKell was dead at the time of the trial, he testified concerning what was said when the so called above mentioned Release was signed as follows:

That he did sign permission to take heavy equipment across his land to the river to clean out the river; that he was asked if he would sign this slip; that Mr. McKell said "Bishop, this is in case of wanting to get to the river with heavy equipment" (which was on the west of his land) . . . " is just permission to cross your ground. "That he read the agreement before he signed it (Deposition of A. T. McKell, pages 18 and 19) Mrs. McKell testified that she was present when the so-called release was signed by her husband and that at that time Mr. McKell was told by Mr. Swenson, who brought the so-called release to the home of the plaintiff, that the

purpose of signing the instrument was to get consent to take heavy equipment over plaintiff's land that they were going to clean out the river. (Tr. 195) Mr. Swenson was questioned about the circumstances surrounding the signing of the so-called release, but his testimony does not shed much light on what was said at the time Mr. McKell signed the same. His testimony is not in conflict with that of the McKells. (Tr. 302-304)

Spanish Fork River began flooding over the adjoining lands to the north and west of its channel in April 1952 and continued into the month of May 1952. It is so alleged in the Amended Complaint, (R. 22) and so admitted in defendants' Answer thereto. (R. 41) The evidence shows that the flood water that caused the damage complained of occurred during the latter part of April and the early part of May. (See testimony of Frances Lundell (Tr. 105): deposition of A. T. McKell, page 4 & 5; testimony of Arthur M. McKell, Tr. 188)

At and before the time involved in this controversy there was a canal extending along the east boundary of the McKell property, along the east banks of which was a growth of willows and briars. (Tr. 6-7 and also Trs. 101). The slope of the land to the east of the plaintiff's property was towards the east and north. (Tr. 106; Tr. 79; Tr. 54 to 59) Spanish Fork City is and at all times complained of was the owner of a tract of land and improvements thereon to the south and just outside of the city which the city leased for \$150.00 a year for a stock sale and sheds (Tr. 289) Such property is about

2900 feet northwest of the McKell property (Tr. 61) and is about 15 feet 4 inches lower than the northeast corner of the plaintiff's property. (Tr. 58)

There is a slight conflict in the evidence as to whether or not the plaintiff consented to the blasting of holes through the banks of the canal which marked the east boundary line of plaintiff's property. Plaintiff A. T. McKell said he did not so consent. (Deposition of Mr. McKell, page 38) Mr. Wm. Jex testified that Mr. McKell asked him if something could not be done to contain the water in one channel. (Tr. 255 to 256) Sometime after April 2, 1952 (Tr. 17) the exact date does not appear, some of the officers of Spanish Fork City, Utah County, and the State Road Commission entered into an oral arrangement whereby the road extending east from the northeast corner of plaintiff's land should be raised and the expense therefor was to be paid in equal amounts by Utah County, Spanish Fork City and the State Road Commission, for the purpose of raising the road which extended to a hill about 1/3 of a mile east from the northeast corner of plaintiff's land. The estimated cost of this work was about \$6000.00. Each of the parties were to furnish some equipment. (Tr. 13 to 17). Pursuant to such agreement the road was raised about 2 feet on the east end thereof and about 4 feet on the west end. (Tr. 26) As a result of raising the road, the water was forced over plaintiff's property. The water which escaped from the Spanish Fork River had spread over a large area of land to the east of plaintiff's property before it reached the dyke

road, that is to say, the road was a little over $1/3$ of a mile long. (Tr. 191) There were 3 culverts under the road. They were 12 inch culverts, one of which was covered up. (Tr. 192) The water that escaped from Spanish Fork River had flowed some distance from the river before it reached the road which was raised. Mayor Nielson estimated the distance at from 40 to 80 rods. (Tr. 282)

Soon after the road was raised it became apparent that great damage was being done to the plaintiff's property by the large quantity of water that was being forced over the same.

Wm. R. Jex who had been active in a plan whereby his property would be saved from flooding secured some powder to enable Frances Lundell to do some blasting on plaintiff's property. (Tr. 101) Mr. Lundell put in a number of blasts whereby a channel was cut through the banks of the canal which formed the east boundary of plaintiff's land and also through plaintiff's land to the river. (Tr. 103) By that means a channel was cut through plaintiff's land in which the water was concentrated (Tr. 104) That blasting was done about May 5th or 6th. (Tr. 105). Arthur McKell expressed it as his opinion that if it had not been for the dyking of the road his property would not have been damaged and that he could have saved the washing away of the land next to the river if it had not been because the large amount of water that was accumulated next to the dyked road and forced over his land prevented him from getting

onto his land with equipment and cutting down trees that were growing along the banks of the river. We quote a portion of his testimony touching that matter:

“If I could have gotten across (the water flowing over the northern part of plaintiff’s land) why I think there is some land on the west, the northwest corner, I could have saved, by dropping those trees along the bank, there were trees available for that purpose.”

That he had lived on a ranch where he had a lot of flood water to contend with. That he had a fraction over 25 acres of land in the premises involved in this action. Deposition of Arthur T. McKell, Trs. 8-9. He thus described the damage done to his land:

The land was worth \$600.00 per acre, some land just north of his land sold for that amount per acre. (Dep. 9-10) That the following improvements and personal property was washed away. A manure spreader of the value of \$60.00, a hay rake of the value of \$50.00, a spring tooth of the value of \$25.00, a harrow of the value of \$25.00. The corral and yard of the value of \$1,412.26. That he had been engaged in the lumber business for 36 years and knew the value of lumber; that the material in the feed manger had a value of \$408.75 (Tr. 11) That the fence which was washed away had a value of \$240.00 of which he should get 80% from the government (Tr. 12) That he had not received anything from the government; that the government charged \$1300.00 for leveling the land for which he was to pay \$330.00. (Tr. 13) That in addition to the \$240.00 for fences, there was

\$560.15, making a total of \$800.15, (Tr. 14) That the flowing well was broken off by the flood and to drill a new well would cost about \$500.00. (at the time of the trial the well had been repaired at a cost of \$125.00 (Tr. 197)). The witness was not certain as to the number of acres of land that was washed away. He gave it as his opinion that about one-half of his land was washed away and that not washed away was depreciated in value 25%. (Tr. 16) That the value of the land, the top of which was washed away was of little value, probably not over \$100.00 (Depos. 17)

Other evidence offered by plaintiff at the trial came from Lawrence M. Atwood, a real estate broker, who was sent over by Utah County to appraise the damage done to the McKell property. He placed the value of the land at \$600.00 per acre. (Tr. 37). He further testified that between 3 and 4 acres of land were washed away by reason of the water being forced over plaintiff's land. (Tr. 37). Other testimony touching the damage done to the plaintiff's property was given by Mark McKell who testified that no crops could be grown on the property here involved in either 1952 or 1953 except about 3 acres. (Tr. 144) That only about 15 acres of land was saved from the 25 acres. (Tr. 145) Evidence was also offered and received as to the productivity of the land before it was damaged by having the top soil removed. See testimony of Arthur T. McKell (Tr. 185-186 and testimony of S. R. Boswell (Tr. 124-129.) Numerous photographs of the McKelly property were received in evidence from which the damage done can

be seen. There is other evidence touching the amount of damage sustained by reason of the water having been forced over plaintiff's land, but at this time we refrain from discussing the same in greater detail because we do not know the basis for the court granting defendant city a judgment notwithstanding the verdict. Suffice it to say that the evidence shows that plaintiff was damaged in the following amounts: About \$2000.00 for the machinery and improvements washed away, in excess of \$2000.00 for the land washed away, about \$3000.00 in damage to the land not washed away, and another \$2000.00 or more due to the fact that the land not washed away did not produce any crops because of its being leveled.

As we understood the situation at the time the matter was argued in the lower court, the judgment rendered by the court was not because the evidence did not establish the amount of damage found by the jury. That being so, probably no useful purpose will be served at this time, by a further discussion of that phase of the case. Should defendant city make the claim that the evidence as to the matter of damages is not sufficient to support the verdict of the jury, we can probably meet such contention in a reply brief.

ARGUMENT

An examination of the various pleadings and motions filed in this case will reveal that the defendant city has advanced a number of theories upon which it has based its defense to the action brought against it and

then has apparently abandoned such defense and shifted to other and at time inconsistent defenses. Thus under date of March 23, 1953 the defendant city moved to dismiss the action because the acts complained of were committed beyond the city and therefore ultra vires. (R. 59).

The next motion filed by defendant city was to dismiss the action set out in the amended complaint because the facts therein alleged were ultra vires and were done as a governmental function. (R. 60) By its next motion, the defendant city sought summary judgment. (Tr. 68) In its original answer to plaintiff's amended complaint, the defendant city sets up as an affirmative defense that it did not participate in the performance of the acts complained of except that some of the trucks belonging to Spanish Fork City were used by Utah County to haul the gravel to raise the road extending easterly from plaintiff's land; that the plaintiff consented to the doing of that which was done by the defendants who were released from any damage that may have been done by the acts complained of; that the damage done to plaintiff's land was an Act of God; that the damage complained of was caused by the straightening of the river channel below the McKell property; that the officers were too busy trying to save its spring water to devote any time with respect to the handling of the water that flowed across plaintiff's land; that the water which was forced over the plaintiff's land was brought about by a wire fence along the south side of the road which was raised against which fence

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