1956

Rebecca McKell v. Spanish Fork City et al : Brief of Defendant and Respondent Spanish Fork City

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondents agree in substance with the procedural steps as outlined in appellant's "Statement of Case." We desire, however, to more fully discuss some of those steps which were merely touched upon by appellant. With respect to the remaining facts, appellant has simply mentioned carefully selected extracts and that part of the testimony which she believes supports her theory, a theory rejected by the Court. Respondent will endeavor to summarize the

evidence with respect to only those facts covered by appellant which we believe are not supported by the evidence.

This action was brought to recover damages to the land and personal property of plaintiff caused by errant flood waters which had escaped the natural channel of the Spanish Fork River and which plaintiff claimed were diverted across plaintiff's land by raising the elevation of a certain county road, and by blasting with dynamite a section of a ditch bank along the East line of plaintiff's property (R. 4 to 9 inclusive). The original basis of plaintiff's claim was under a trespass theory. Motions to dismiss were filed by all defendants (R. 59, 60, 61, and 62). In ruling on the motion of Spanish Fork City to dismiss, District Judge Wm. Stanley Dunford in his memorandum decision dated April 10, 1953, was of the opinion that defendant Spanish Fork City acted in a governmental capacity and that the motion of Spanish Fork City ought to be granted (R. 16 to 19 inclusive). On pages R. 18 and 19, Judge Dunford stated:

"However, because of the disconnection in time and circumstances between building of the dike and blasting of the trees, etc., and because the problems suggested by this memorandum could not reasonably have been foreseen by the plaintiff at the making of his complaint against so many defendants, the plaintiff should have an opportunity to state a cause against the City if the facts warrant it under the holding of this memorandum."

Thereafter, on April 18, 1953, plaintiff filed an amended complaint, which again was based upon a trespass theory (R. 20 to 32 inclusive). Defendant Spanish Fork City again filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint (R. 60). Defendant's motion to dismiss was denied, as shown

by Judge Dunford's memorandum decision dated May 26, 1953 (R. 33 to 39 inclusive). Judge Dunford pointed out therein that even though the amended complaint was not founded on the taking of private property for public use, which theory was raised for the first time by counsel for the plaintiff in his oral argument on the motion to dismiss, the amended complaint, it was held, did state a cause of action. Thereafter plaintiff filed an amendment to the amended complaint (R. 54). Subsequently, defendant Utah County, together with the State of Utah, (not a party to this action), each paid plaintiff \$2,000.00, making a total of \$4,000.00, in full settlement of their differences. As a result thereof, plaintiff dismissed the action against defendants Utah County, its individual commissioners and employees. In addition thereto, plaintiff dismissed the action against defendants William R. Jex, Roy Bradford, Francis Lundell, John S. Davis, and Wendell Bradford without any consideration moving from them to the plaintiff (R. 63 and 64).

Thereafter, the remaining defendants filed a motion for summary judgment (R. 68). The motion for summary judgment was denied by Judge Dunford with certain qualifications as shown by his memorandum decision dated August 10, 1954 (R. 70 to 78 inclusive).

Prior to the time set for trial, District Judge Wm. Stanley Dunford passed away, and District Judge Maurice Harding was appointed his successor. The case came on for trial and was heard by District Judge Maurice Harding. Defendants proceeded in accordance with the trial court's memorandum of authorities. Plaintiff offered evidence in an effort to show that defendant Spanish Fork City participated in raising the elevation of the county road, which

evidence was received over the objections of the defendants (Tr. 6 and 13).

At the conclusion of plaintiff's case, a motion was made by the defendants for an involuntary dismissal on the grounds that the defendant Spanish Fork City was acting in a governmental capacity, and was not liable to plaintiff as a matter of law (Tr. 201 and 202), which was denied (Tr. 204).

The jury found in favor of the plaintiff and assessed her damage only against defendant Spanish Fork City, and found no cause of action against the individual officers and employees of defendant Spanish Fork City (R. 123). Thereafter, upon motion of counsel for defendant Spanish Fork City, the Court set aside the verdict and granted judgment in favor of defendant Spanish Fork City and against the plaintiff, no cause of action (R. 135 and 136).

The Spanish Fork River heads in the top of the East slope of the Wasatch Mountains and courses, in a general Northwesterly direction through Utah Valley to Utah Lake. The natural channel passes through the West portion of plaintiff's land where it meanders around several pronounced curves. (See defendant's Exhibit No. 26).

In the month of March, 1952, there was an above average cover of snow on the water shed of the Spanish Fork River. Since the mean temperature during the early spring months was below average, the snow was being held on the lower water shed, which otherwise would have begun to melt. It was anticipated that if the temperature should climb above average for a sustained period, that a large volume of water would be discharged through the Spanish Fork River (Tr. 121 and 122).

Although it was generally anticipated that a flood would occur, no one anticipated that it would reach the magnitude that it did (Tr. 122). In anticipation of the potential flood hazard, a number of farmers owning land adjacent to the Spanish Fork River and a number of individuals owning residential property near the river bottom, both inside and outside of the corporate limits of Spanish Fork City, held several meetings for the purpose of combining their efforts to protect their properties in the event that the Spanish Fork River should overflow its banks (Tr. 244 and 252). Dean S. Ludlow testified that A. T. McKell, the original plaintiff, attended some of the meetings (Tr. 245). Plaintiff, Rebecca McKell, testified that to her knowledge, A. T. McKell did not attend any of the meetings (Tr. 329 and 330). A committee of land owners was selected to determine what could be done to alleviate the threat of the flood (Tr. 245). In an effort to gain help from Spanish Fork City, a meeting was held with the Spanish Fork City Council at the request of the committee members (Tr. 245, 246, 261, 286, 288, and 315). At the meeting, the committee members requested that a representative from the Spanish Fork City Council be placed on the committee to facilitate the acquisition of equipment if necessary (Tr. 261). Ed M. Beck was so appointed, and the committee selected its own chairman (Tr. 92, 93, 261, and 321). The committee members requested that their names be placed in the minutes of the Council meeting, which accordingly was done (Tr. 92, 93, and 261). The committee was not appointed by the Spanish Fork City Council (Tr. 261, 286, 287, and 321).

The potential flood condition was surveyed by several groups of officials to determine what action should be taken.

The survey revealed that flood waters which might overflow the East bank of the Spanish Fork River could cause serious damage and destruction to the gravel county road which extended Easterly from the Northeast corner of the plaintiff's property, privately owned farm lands extending North from the county road, property owned by Spanish Fork City upon which there existed buildings, sheds, stock yards, and a race track, a public school and seminary building, a railroad bridge and trestle, U. S. Highway No. 91 and large concrete bridge structure, and private residential property owned by citizens of Spanish Fork City within its corporate limits in the Northwest part thereof (Tr. 8, 9, 29, and 33). It was suggested by General West, a member of the Civil Defense Committee of the State of Utah, (Tr. 6, 276), that the county road extending east from the Northeast corner of plaintiff's land be raised. The purpose of raising the road was to protect the above properties (Tr. 27, 29, and 249). In response to a request by Utah County for assistance, a meeting of the Spanish Fork City Council was held wherein the Council voted to send some City-owned trucks to help the County raise the road (Tr. 277). The Spanish Fork City Council approved an oral cooperative agreement between Spanish Fork City, Utah County, and the State of Utah, whereby Spanish Fork City was to furnish \$2,000.00 in labor to assist in raising the level of a county road as shown by the following minute entry of Spanish Fork City dated April 11, 1952, which, incidentally, is incorrectly quoted in appellant's brief:

"Councilman Anderson moved that we go along with the County and State in furnishing \$2,000.00 worth of labor along with the County and State \$2,000.00 each on dike road, and to do all we can to cooperate with

County and State in construction of road dike and to authorize mayor and recorder to sign county agreement."

The oral cooperative agreement was later reduced to writing and was signed by the officials in Spanish Fork City on June 4, 1952, which was some time after the flooding took place (Tr. 16). (See defendant's Exhibit No. 1).

The officials of Spanish Fork City and Utah County deemed it advisable to procure a written release or waiver from the land owners along the Spanish Fork River for any damage resulting from the flood control work prior to the performance of any work (Tr. 92 and 309). In accordance with the foregoing, on April 2, 1952, a written instrument entitled "Release" was executed by a number of the owners of land adjacent to the Spanish Fork River. Included among the signers was A. T. McKell, the original plaintiff in this action. (See defendant's Exhibit No. 39. Tr. 198 and 303).

A canal known as the Bradford ditch runs along the East boundary of plaintiff's land. (See defendant's Exhibit No. 26). (Tr. 83). Plaintiff's land is irrigated with waters from the Bradford ditch, as is the land situated immediately East. (See defendant's Exhibit No. 26 and Tr. 89). The general slope of the land East of the river is in a North-westerly direction, i. e., towards the river channel as shown by the course of the flood water in defendant's Exhibit No. 3. The land immediately East of plaintiff's land has a very slight slope to the East, being about one and three-fourths inches per hundred feet, and a slope of three-fourths inch per hundred feet to the North, and is irrigated to the North-east (Tr. 65).

Although the land has been irrigated in that direction as long as the witness Clifford McKell, who owned the land for the past twenty-five years, could remember, the only logical conclusion is that at one time the land was graded with a slope to the Northeast, so that it could be irrigated from the Bradford ditch.

The banks of the Bradford ditch are higher than either the plaintiff's land or the land to the East thereof. (See plaintiff's Exhibit No. 6). The Bradford ditch has always passed under the county road by means of a culvert, and at that point the elevation of the road has always been higher than the banks of the ditch (Tr. 23, 83, and 250). The elevation of the county road was higher than the land immediately South thereof prior to the raising of the elevation of the road (Tr. 250).

During the latter part of the month of April, 1952, the river began overflowing its East banks approximately one to one and one-half miles Southeasterly from plaintiff's property (Tr. 10). The course of the flood water was in a general Northwesterly direction, and its path of destruction is clearly shown in defendant's Exhibit No. 3.

As the errant flood waters innundated a large area of land East of the river and coursed their way in a general Northwesterly direction towards the county road, it became apparent that to save and protect the county road, the state highway and bridge, Spanish Fork City property, and privately owned farm land, and residential property owned by citizens of Spanish Fork City within its corporate limits, the elevation of the county road had to be raised (Tr. 7). Two trucks owned by Spanish Fork City were loaned to Utah County and were placed under its su-

pervision (Tr. 33, 280, and 283). There was a total of seven or eight trucks which worked steadily for three or four days and nights hauling gravel to raise the elevation of the road (Tr. 15). The elevation of the road was raised about two feet on the East and about four feet on the West (Tr. 26).

Upon reaching the county road, which extends Easterly from the Northeast corner of plaintiff's property, the errant flood waters were impounded and prevented, at least temporarily, from proceeding any further North. The elevation of the impounded flood waters gradually raised, and when it exceeded the elevation of the bank of the Bradford ditch, the water began overflowing to the West onto and over the plaintiff's lands and back into the river. The flood water overflowed the bank of the Bradford ditch approximately two to three feet deep, and for a distance of from fifty to seventy-five yards, and began washing gulleys, rivulets, and fingers, thereby washing away the top soil over a considerable area along the Northern portion of plaintiff's land (Tr. 20, 21, 101, 107, 116, and 257).

Thereafter, the original plaintiff, A. T. McKell, went to the place of business of William R. Jex and asked if Mr. Jex could do something to confine the water washing across plaintiff's property into one channel to save his property from being entirely washed away (Tr. 254, 255). In response to the request of Mr. A. T. McKell, Mr. Jex contacted Francis Lundell, and together they set a series of dynamite charges known as ditching powder along the Northern portion of plaintiff's land, beginning on the West near the McKell barn, where the water had already cut the land back, and extending East to and including the West bank of the Bradford ditch (Tr. 103). The first blasting occurred

on the night of April 26, 1952 (Tr. 102, 188, and 255). A few days later, Arthur T. McKell again went to William Jex and asked that a second hole be cut through the Bradford ditch (Tr. 256). In response to Mr. McKell's request, Messrs. Jex and Lundell blew out a second channel through the West bank of the Bradford ditch a short distance South from the original cut (Tr. 102, 256).

There is not one scintilla of evidence to show that either William R. Jex or Francis Lundell were employed by or were authorized or acted for Spanish Fork City to do any blasting whatever. In fact, all of the evidence shows otherwise (Tr. 256, 286).

The only evidence touching on the exact acreage of plaintiff's land washed away by the flood waters was the testimony of Hugo Price, a registered, professional engineer and land surveyor, and defendant's Exhibit No. 26, which was a map prepared by Mr. Price in January, 1953, when he was Utah County Engineer. The evidence showed that 7.6 acres of river bottom land had been washed away by the turbulent flood waters which remained in the natural channel. (See defendant's Exhibit No. 26, Tr. 209). A total of 1.87 acres of plaintiff's land had been washed away by the errant flood waters which had escaped the natural channel. Plaintiff contends that he could have saved some land along the river bottom and machinery if the flood had not prevented him from reaching that land. (See deposition of A. T. McKell, page 9). Mr. Francis Lundell testified that the South end of the McKell property could have been reached by wearing hip boots at any time that he was there during the flood (Tr. 117).

On May 4, 1952, the Spanish Fork River reached a peak flow of 3500 second feet of water, measured in the mouth

of the canyon at Castilla. The highest flow at flood stage previously recorded was 1520 second feet in 1920. (See defendant's Exhibit No. 29, Tr. 220). Thus it can be seen that the flow in 1952 was approximately 2000 second feet higher, which was more than twice as high as any previous recorded flow at flood stage. Francis Lundell testified that he had lived at Benjamin, Utah, for sixty-one years, and he had never before seen such a flood (Tr. 113).

A careful and exhaustive review of the entire record reveals that the only thing that Spanish Fork City or its officers had to do with the flood water which caused the damage complained of was to lend to Utah County the use of two city-owned trucks, which were under the supervision of the county for three or four days in hauling gravel to raise the elevation of the county road. It is upon this fact, and this fact alone, that appellant asks that this Court reinstate the verdict of the jury.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

We shall follow the general order of the points specified in appellant's brief, although we believe it unnecessary to answer all points raised by appellant to sustain the decision of the trial court. Respondent desires to present two additional points which are enumerated as Point VII and Point VIII and will be fully discussed hereafter. We shall endeavor to cover each point in the order enumerated.

POINT I

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